IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 00-062

BRIAN GLATZMAYER,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO.0656879 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant" or "State." Appellee, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellee", "defendant" or "Glatzmayer." Reference to the pleadings will be by the symbol "R," reference to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 3, 1998, a grand jury sitting in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit returned a two-count Indictment charging Glatzmayer, along with Codefendants Ramon Franco, Carlos Umana and Charles Israel, with the first degree murder of Eric Schunk, in violation of §§ 775.087(1) and (2) and 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997) (Count I); and attempted robbery while armed with a firearm, in violation of §§ 775.087(1) and (2), 777.04(1) and 812.13(1)(2)(a) (Count II) (R. 33-34). The Indictment was subsequently refiled on November 7, 1998 (R. 90-91). Glatzmayer's trial was severed from that of his codefendants (T. 22). He was found guilty of first degree felony murder and attempted robbery without a firearm. (R 131, T 1079). Glatzmayer was sentence to life in prison on without the possibility of parole on the murder charge and twelve years on the robbery charge. (T 1079).

On appeal, Glatzmayer challenged the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress his video-taped confession. The district court reversed Glatzmayer's conviction finding that trial court erred in admitting the confession into evidence. In so doing the court certified a question of great public importance to this Court. <u>Glatzmayer v. State</u>, 25 Fla. La. Weekly D589 (Fla. 4th DCA March 8, 2000).

The Motion To Suppress Hearing.

Prior to trial, Glatzmayer filed a written motion to suppress, seeking to suppress his taped post-arrest statement and any statements he made from the time he allegedly requested counsel forward (R. 81-87). A hearing on the motion to suppress, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, was held on November 23, 1998 (T. 14). Officers Edward J. Flynn and Sergeant Robert J. Brand of the City of Delray Beach Police Department testified on behalf of the State (T. 23, 58). Glatzmayer did not present any witnesses.

Officer Flynn responded to the scene at approximately 2:00 a.m. after hearing the call on his police radio (T. 24). When he first arrived, he met with the supervisor on the scene who briefed Officer Flynn on what had taken place (T. 25). Officer Flynn was then directed to Officer Michael Hicks, who was speaking to a possible witness (T. 25). Officer Hicks told Officer Flynn that Glatzmayer was purchasing an ounce of marijuana (T. 25). During the transaction, a car drove by and fired shots which killed Eric Schunk (T. 25).

Officer Flynn spoke to Glatzmayer at the scene, but did not consider him a suspect at the time; Officer Flynn considered Glatzmayer to be merely a witness (T. 26). Officer Flynn then took Glatzmayer to the police station to continue the interview and try to obtain more details (T. 26). Officer Flynn took a taped statement from Glatzmayer that morning (T. 27-28; State's Motion Hearing Exhibit 1). At the time of this taped statement, Officer Flynn wasn't sure whether Glatzmayer was a witness or a suspect: as the interviewing progressed, some of Glatzmayer's statements did

not match the evidence at the scene (T. 27). For example, Glatzmayer stated that the shooters were driving their vehicle and shot from the vehicle (T. 27). However, the shell casings on the ground at the scene were too far from the roadway to have been fired from a car (T. 27). After this interview, Officer Flynn let Glatzmayer go home (T. 28).

During Officer Flynn's investigation on February 15 and 16, other witnesses gave Officer Flynn information which led him to believe that Glatzmayer was not being truthful (T. 29).

On the morning of February 16, Officer Flynn went to the home of Donnie Clark to show him some photo lineups (T. 29). When Officer Flynn arrived, Glatzmayer was at Donnie Clark's residence (T. 29).¹ While Officer Flynn was there, he also showed the photo lineups to Stephanie Marrell (T. 29-30). Glatzmayer approached Officer Flynn and told Officer Flynn that he wanted give another statement and tell the full truth about what happened (T. 30). Officer Flynn told Glatzmayer that they would go back to the police department and talk there (T. 30). Officer Flynn drove Glatzmayer to the station in his car, but Glatzmayer was not handcuffed (T. 31). Officer Flynn did not have any further conversation with Glatzmayer until they got to the police station (T. 31).

Officer Flynn took Glatzmayer to the interview room (T. 31). While Glatzmayer waited in the interview room, Officer Flynn met with Sergeant Brand and informed him that Glatzmayer wished to make

¹ Officer Flynn testified that he had not intended to come into contact with Glatzmayer until later that day (T. 34).

a statement (T. 32). Officer Flynn went back to the interview room and advised Glatzmayer of his <u>Miranda</u> rights (T. 32-33; State's Motion Hearing Exhibit 2). Officer Flynn's initial conversation with Glatzmayer was not recorded (T. 33). During that time, Glatzmayer did not indicate in any manner that he did not wish to give a statement (T. 33). Glatzmayer then provided a statement about the events that occurred on the early morning of February 15 (T. 34). The conversation off-tape lasted approximately an hour (T. 38).

At the end of the untaped interview, Officer Flynn asked Glatzmayer to put his statement on tape (T. 35). Glatzmayer asked Officer Flynn if he thought Glatzmayer should have an attorney, and Officer Flynn responded "that's not our decision to make, that's yours, it's up to you" (T. 35-36, 38). Glatzmayer then stated "well, maybe I should just talk to my mother" (T. 35-36, 38). At that point, Officer Flynn tried to contact Glatzmayer's mother (T. 36).

Glatzmayer's mother came to the police station approximately an hour later and spoke to Glatzmayer in the interview room (T. 36, 38). Glatzmayer spoke to his mother for about half an hour (T. 38). After Glatzmayer met with his mother alone in the interview room, Officer Flynn took Glatzmayer's taped statement (T. 36, 38; State's Motion Hearing Exhibit 3). Neither Glatzmayer or his mother ever indicated to the officers that Glatzmayer did not wish to give a statement (T. 36-37). Glatzmayer's taped statement did not materially differ from the untaped statement (T. 34, 37).

Prior to cross-examination, the trial court clarified the following: Officer Flynn spoke to Glatzmayer for about an hour before he asked Glatzmayer to give a taped statement (T. 37-38). When Officer Flynn asked Glatzmayer to go on tape, Glatzmayer asked him if he should speak to a lawyer (T. 38). Officer Flynn told Glatzmayer that he couldn't give Glatzmayer that advice (T. 38). Glatzmayer then said he would like to speak to his mother (T. 38). It took Glatzmayer's mother about an hour to get to the police station (T. 38). Mrs. Glatzmayer then met with Glatzmayer for about 30 mins. (T. 38).

On cross-examination, Officer Flynn clarified that the first time he spoke with Glatzmayer was at the scene of the murder (T. 41). Glatzmayer was attempting to assist in helping Eric (T. 41). Glatzmayer was visibly upset that Eric had been shot (T. 41). During Glatzmayer's first statement, Officer Flynn merely thought of Glatzmayer as a witness (T. 42). Glatzmayer was then released (T. 42).

When Officer Flynn learned where the shell casings were found, he discovered that there were some inconsistencies in Glatzmayer's statement (T. 43). When Officer Flynn ran into Glatzmayer later that day at Donnie's house, Glatzmayer told Officer Flynn that he wanted to give another statement (T. 44). At this point, Officer Flynn did not tell Glatzmayer that he was under arrest (T. 45). Officer Flynn then transported Glatzmayer back to the police department (T. 46).

Once they arrived back at the station, Officer Flynn read Glatzmayer his rights (T. 47). Glatzmayer then gave an untaped statement (T. 49). Prior to going on tape, Glatzmayer raised the issue of whether he should have an attorney (T. 49). According to Officer Flynn, if Glatzmayer had wanted an attorney, they would have gotten him an attorney (T. 52). Instead, Glatzmayer wanted his mother, so they got his mother (T. 52). Then the officer took the identical statement on tape. (T 53). When Glatzmayer asked them if he should have an attorney, they told Glatzmayer that it was up to him (T. 54). Then he asked to talk to his mother before he will give a statement on tape. (T 54).

Glatzmayer spoke to his mother in a room that was monitored by a television monitor also equipped with audio (T. 55). Officer Flynn did not know if Glatzmayer spoke to his mother about getting an attorney (T. 54-55). Officer Flynn did not listen to their whole conversation, but he heard that Glatzmayer's mother was upset with him for being involved in this and setting up his friend (T. 55). Officer Flynn did not make either an audio- or video-tape of the conversation (T. 56).

Sergeant Brand transported Glatzmayer from the scene back to the Delray Beach police Department (T. 58). Sergeant Brand never spoke to Glatzmayer at the scene or in the car (T. 58-59). Sergeant Brand participated in Glatzmayer's initial interview on the morning of February 15 (T. 58). The statement was taperecorded and then Glatzmayer was released (T. 59).

Sergeant Brand came into contact with Glatzmayer Again on the morning of February 16 in one of the interview rooms at the police department (T. 59). Officer Flynn read Glatzmayer his rights and Glatzmayer indicated that he understood those rights (T. 60). Glatzmayer gave another statement which was different from his first statement on February 15 (T. 61). Glatzmayer told the officers about the involvement of Ramon Franco, Carlos Umana and Charles Israel (T. 61).

When Officer Flynn asked Glatzmayer if he would be willing to give a taped statement, Glatzmayer asked their opinion on whether he should have an attorney (T. 62). The officers responded that they were not there to give advice; the decision was strictly up to Glatzmayer (T. 62). Glatzmayer said that he would go ahead and give a statement, but he wanted to talk to his mother first (T. 62). When she arrived, Detective Brand took her into an office and told her that Glatzmayer was under arrest for attempted robbery and murder (T. 63). Mrs. Glatzmayer was given an opportunity to speak to Glatzmayer. (T. 63).

That room had a camera that the officers could use to monitor what was going on in the room (T. 64). Detective Brand did not listen to the whole conversation (T. 64). Detective Brand explained that the video monitor was there for officer safety, to see if anything is handed back and forth between individuals in the room (T. 64). Detective Brand overheard Mrs. Glatzmayer tell Glatzmayer that the best thing he could do was to go ahead and

cooperate with the police (T. 64). After she met with Glatzmayer, Glatzmayer gave a taped statement (T. 64).

On cross-examination, Detective Brand clarified that when he transported Glatzmayer back to the police department, Glatzmayer stayed with Officer Flynn while Detective Brand went back out to the scene (T. 73).

Glatzmayer voluntarily went to the police department with Officer Flynn to give his second statement (T. 76). Glatzmayer then gave a statement that was different from his first statement (T. 77). Glatzmayer was read his rights before the off-tape interview (T. 78). Glatzmayer acknowledged and waived his rights (T. 80). However, before he would give a taped statement, Glatzmayer asked if the officers thought he should have an attorney (T. 80). The officers told Glatzmayer that it was his decision to make (T. 80). The officers told Glatzmayer that were not saying yes or no to the question, and they refused to give an opinion. (T 81-82).

Prior to the taped statement, the sequence of events were that he asked about an attorney, the officers refused to give an opinion, he asked to speak to his mother, and then he ultimately gives a statement. (T 83-84). Glatzmayer then said he wanted to speak to his mother (T. 82). It took about 30-45 minutes to locate her (T. 82). The conversation Glatzmayer had with his mother was monitored, but not recorded (T. 83). Glatzmayer was never advised that the conversation with his mother was going to be monitored (T. 83).

After hearing evidence and argument, the trial court denied Glatzmayer's motion to suppress (T. 137). The trial court made the following findings of fact. On February 16, 1998, Detective Ed Flynn of the Delray Beach Police Department went to the home of a witness to show her a photo lineup. The defendant was present and told Flynn that he wanted to change his statement. He was taken to the police department and along with Sgt. Robert Brand questioned him. He was advised of his Miranda warnings from a standard rights card which was signed by the defendant. After a brief statement, a formal statement was taken. Pursuant to the agreement of the parties, the Court reviewed the statement prior to the hearing. The defendant confessed to his involvement in the murder of Eric Schunk.

Both officers testified that the defendant was not promised or threatened to give a statement, did not appear to be under the influence of any alcohol or drugs, and the he freely and voluntarily spoke with them. After the officer took a statement from him, he was asked if he would put the statement on tape. At that point the defendant asked the officers if "they thought he should get a lawyer?" The officers responded that it was his choice. At that point the defendant requested to speak to with his mother. She was located by the officers and given the opportunity to speak with her son alone for about a half hour. After speaking with his mother, the defendant gave a taped statement. On the tape itself the defendant stated that he understood his rights and that

he was not threatened or promised anything. The defense did not present any testimony. (ROA 141-142, T 135-137).

In denying the motion, the court made the following legal conclusions:

Based on the totality of the testimony presented and the tape recorded statement of the defendant, the Court finds that the statement given by the defendant was done so after he was properly advised of his Miranda Warnings and that it was done so freely and voluntarily. The evidence demonstrates that the defendant did not invoke his right to counsel, that his question was at best an equivocal request for counsel, and that the officer's [sic] were correct in telling the defendant that whether or not he should get a lawyer was his choice.

(R. 142).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue - The district court erred in finding that Glatzmayer's confession was involuntary under <u>Almeida v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1999). The police officers correctly told Glatzmayer that any decision on whether he should obtain a lawyer was entirely his choice and that they could not advise him. Consequently Glatzmayer's subsequent confession, after consultation with his mother, was voluntary and admissible.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE OFFICERS PROPERLY DECLINED TO OFFER LEGAL ADVICE TO GLATZMAYER REGARDING WHETHER IT WAS IN HIS BEST INTEREST TO EXERCISE HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL; HIS SUBSEQUENT CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARY AND PROPERLY ADMITTED AT TRIAL

Brian Glatzmayer was convicted of first degree felony murder of Eric Schunk. Included in the evidence admitted at trial was his video-taped confession detailing his involvement in the robbery and murder. Prior to trial the defendant filed a motion to suppress the video-taped confession.²

The facts adduced at the motion to suppress included the following. After receiving <u>Miranda</u>³ warnings, Glatzmayer signed a waiver form and provided an oral confession⁴ to police. He was then asked if he would repeat that confession on video-tape. Glatzmayer asked the police, "Should I get a lawyer?" Officers Brand and Flynn told Glatzmayer that the decision was his and they could not offer an opinion. (T 35, 36, 38, 62, 80). At that point, Glatzmayer requested that he be allowed to see his mother. (T 62). Mrs. Glatzmayer was contacted and arrived at the station

² Prior to the video-taped confession, Glatzmayer had previously waived his right <u>Miranda</u> rights in writing and made a non-recorded confession which was identical to his taped statement. (T 34, 763).

³ <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

 $^{^4}$ Glatzmayer has never challenged the voluntariness of this confession. (R 84, T 32, 35).

within the hour. After speaking to his mother alone for thirty (30) minutes, Glatzmayer provided a second confession on video-Glatzmayer argued that his question to the officers was tape. an unequivocal request for counsel and therefore all questioning He further contended that the officers' should have ceased. response was inadequate since they did not provide him with direction or guidance. (R 81-86, T 131-135). The trial court denied the motion ruling that as a matter of law, Glatzmayer's question was at best an equivocal request for counsel under Davis v. United States 512 U.S. 452 (1994) and State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997). Furthermore, the police officers' refusal to offer advice was proper, noting that any other response would have been tantamount to legal advice. Slawson v. State, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993). (T 131 R 141-142). In addition to the written factual findings, the court orally announced that the taped confession revealed that Glatzmayer was cooperative with police, calm, and spoke in a normal voice. (T 137).

On direct appeal, Glatzmayer, relying on <u>Almeida v. State</u>, 737 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1999), claimed that the police failed to make a good faith effort to answer his question. Finding <u>Almeida</u> controlling, the district court agreed and held:

> "[i]n the present case the officers did not ignore the guestion, but their answer does not comply with It was not a 'simple and Almeida. straightforward answer,' nor was it to effort `an honest answer [Almeida's] question concerning his right to counsel.' ... Clearly, the only straightforward answer to

appellant's question would have been some type of affirmative response."

<u>Glatzmayer</u>, at 590.⁵ In addition to reversing the trial court's order, the court certified the following question:

When suspects who are considering waiving their Miranda rights ask law enforcement officers if they should invoke the right to counsel, what does Almeida require of the officers?

<u>Id.</u>

The district court erred in reversing the trial court's order denying the motion to suppress. First, the exchange between Glatzmayer and the officers, including the fact that he was allowed to speak to his mother prior to making the decision to confess, clearly demonstrate that the taped confession was voluntary and therefore admissible. Second, the district court erred in holding that <u>Almeida</u> constitutionally mandates police officers to offer legal advice when requested. Compounding that error is the court's finding that in dispensing such advice police officers must dissuade suspects from providing voluntary admissions. Third, the state asks this Court to clarify its holding in <u>Almeida</u>.

The state asserts that the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress. As already recounted above, when Glatzmayer asked, "should I get a lawyer?", the police instructed him that the decision rested solely with the defendant. Glatzmayer, then asked

⁵ The district court pointed out that <u>Almeida v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1999) had not been decided until after litigation of the motion to suppress. <u>Glatzmayer v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D590 n. 1

to speak to his mother. That request was honored even though Glatzmayer was not a juvenile. He and his mother spoke for approximately thirty (30) minutes. Immediately thereafter, Glatzmayer gave a video-taped confession. Irrespective of Almeida's impact on confession law in Florida or its applicability to the instant case, Glatazmayer's confession was voluntary and properly admitted at trial. Cf Z.F.B. V. State, 573 So. 2d 1031, 1032 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991) (upholding admissibility of confession after juvenile was allowed to speak to legal quardian and subsequently confessed) Cruz v. State, 736 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999)(same); cf. Doerr v. State, 383 So. 2d 905, 907 (Fla. 1980)(indicating that juvenile's access to parents when requested is a factor to consider when considering voluntary nature of confession); Allen v. State, 636 So. 2d 494, 496 n.2 (Fla. 1994)(same); <u>Ramirez v. State</u>, 739 So. 2d 568, 576 (Fla. 1999)(same); Snipes v. State, 733 So. 2d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 1999)(same).

In conclusion, the district court erred in ignoring the pertinent facts that Glatzmayer chose to confess after he was allowed to speak with his mother.⁶ The court failed to provide any analysis regarding the inapplicability of the these relevant facts and dispositive cases. Reversal is therefore required.

⁶ The state asserts that since Glatzmayer was not a juvenile the police were not required to notify his mother. However, the fact that Mrs. Glatzmayer was allowed to speak to her son clearly demonstrates that the police did not coerce him in any way.

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