FILED THOMAS D. HALL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 0 6 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 00-062 602 3 4th DCA # 99-576

Petitioner,

vs.

<u>۲</u> . ۳

BRIAN L. GLATZMAYER

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL SALNICK, P.A. One Clearlake Centre, Suite **1203 250** S. Australian Avenue West Palm Beach, FL 33401 **(561) 471-1000** Florida Bar No. 270962 Attorney for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

۰<u>،</u> ۱

Petitioner, STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court below, and Respondent, BRIAN GLATZMAYER, was the Defendant below. The parties will be referred to as the "State" and "Glatzmayer", respectively.

In accordance with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for the Respondent hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

iii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Glatzmayer, accepts the State's rather verbose and repetitive version of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After a thorough analysis of both federal and state case law, this Court held in Almeida that "if, at any point during custodial interrogation, a suspect asks a clear question concerning his or her rights, the officer must stop the interview and make a goodfaith effort to give a simple and straightforward answer." Almeida held that giving an evasive answer, or failing to answer at all, is tantamount to "steamrolling" a suspect and actively promotes the coercive atmosphere inherent in custodial interrogation. This Court found that Almeida's confession had to be suppressed because the police officers evaded the defendant's question about his right to counsel. In the instant case, Glatzmayer also asked a clear, unequivocal question concerning whether or not he should have an attorney present before making a taped statement to the police. Here, the officers did not give Glatzmayer a simple and straightforward answer, but only told him that the decision was up to him. Glatzmayer's question, like Almeida's, was also "prefatory to -- and possibly determinative of -- the invoking of a right." The police officers' "answer" to Glatzmayer was not an answer at all, but merely an evasion. The Fourth District, following this Court's analysis and holding in Almeida, held that the officers' response failed to comply with

the requirements set out in <u>Almeida</u> and found that Glatzmayer's taped statement should have been suppressed.

Glatzmayer urges this Court to affirm the Fourth District's decision because the appellate court's analysis of the facts found in <u>Glatzmayer</u> was sound, and it correctly determined that <u>Almeida</u> controlled.

ARGUMENT

• • •

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT WHEN IT DENIED RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE THE OFFICERS DID NOT MAKE A GOOD FAITH EFFORT TO ANSWER RESPONDENT'S QUESTION ABOUT WHETHER HE NEEDED AN ATTORNEY.

Although the State cleverly defined the issue as being one of whether or not the police officers should have offered "legal advice" to Glatzmayer, this definition is a disingenuous mischaracterization. Neither <u>Almeida</u> nor the case, sub justice, (which relied on <u>Almeida</u>) suggested or even implied that law enforcement should now engage in legal counseling. <u>Almeida v.</u> <u>State</u>, 737 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1999); <u>Glatzmaver v. State</u>, 754 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Nor does the decision in <u>Almeida</u> or <u>Glatzmaver</u> constitutionally mandate law enforcement officers to dissuade suspects from providing voluntary confessions, as the State also accuses. No possible reading of either of those cases could or would lead a reasonable person to such a conclusion. Quite the contrary, as <u>Almeida</u>'s focus was on preserving the integrity, thus the admissibility, of voluntary confessions.

In <u>Almeida</u>, this Court was presented with "a custodial utterance that was prefatory to -- and possibly determinative of -- the invoking of a right." <u>Almeida</u>, 737 So. 2d at 523. Almeida was brought to the police station for questioning regarding a shooting death outside the Days Inn in Fort Lauderdale. <u>Id.</u> at

521-22. Almeida was read his Miranda rights, after which he signed a waiver form and made the inculpatory statement, "I fucking killed him <u>Id.</u> at 522. The officers then decided to conduct a formal, taped interrogation where the following discussion took place:

Q. All right. Prior to us going on this tape here, I read your Miranda rights to you, that is the form that I have here in front of you, is that correct? Did you understand all of these rights that I read to you? Α. Yes. Q. Do you wish to speak to me now without an attorney present? Well, what good is an attorney going to do? Α. Okay, well you already spoke to me and you want to 0. speak to me again on tape? [by another officer] We are, we are just going to Q. talk to you as we talked to you before, that is all. Oh, sure. Α.

Id. This Court found that Almeida's "utterance was a bona fide question which -- under normal circumstances -- would call for an answer." Id. at 524, It found that the officers, however, ignored his question and never even attempted to give Almeida an answer. Id. This Court held that there was nothing unclear or equivocal about Almeida's question and that he was plainly asking the officer for "fundamental information concerning his right to counsel." Id.

In considering <u>Almeida</u>, this Court examined its previous holdings in <u>Owen</u> and <u>Travlor</u>. <u>State v. Owen</u>, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997); <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992). <u>Owen</u>

involved two equivocal statements, made during interrogation, about whether or not Owen wanted to answer certain questions. <u>Owen</u>, 696 So. 2d at 716 n.4. This Court considered whether police officers were required to stop and try to clarify equivocal statements made in passing during an interrogation, It held that the police did not need to ask clarifying questions if a "defendant who has received proper Miranda warnings makes only an equivocal or ambiguous request to terminate an interrogation after having validly waived his or her Miranda rights," <u>Almeida</u>, 737 So. 2d at 523. This Court went on to state that the issue in <u>Owen</u> was quite different than the one in <u>Almeida</u>, where the defendant asked a question about his right to counsel. Id.

This Court then quoted <u>Travlor:</u>

Under [article I, section 9, Florida Constitution], if the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin, or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop. If the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she wants the help of a lawyer, interrogation must not begin until a lawyer has been appointed and is present, or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop until a lawyer is present.

<u>Almeida</u>, 737 So. **2d** at 525 (quoting <u>Travlor</u>, 596 So. 2d at 966). It asserted that the <u>Travlor</u> proscription embraced the situation found in <u>Almeida</u> because the defendant was seeking "basic information on which to make an informed decision concerning his

right to counsel." <u>Almeida</u>, **737** So. 2d at 525. This Court went on to explain:

No valid societal interest is served by withholding such information. Indeed, both sides can only benefit from disclosure: Disclosure ensures that any subsequent waiver will be knowing and intelligent, and it reaffirms those qualities in a prior waiver. Nondisclosure, on the other hand, is doubly harmful: It exacerbates the inherently coercive atmosphere of the interrogation session, and it places in doubt the knowing and intelligent nature of any waiver -- whether prior or subsequent.

Id. Finally, the Almeida court concluded in strong, clear

language:

Accordingly, we hold that if, at any point during custodial interrogation, a suspect asks a clear question concerning his or her rights, the officer must stop the interview and make a good-faith effort to give a simple and straightforward answer. To do otherwise -- i.e., to give an evasive answer, or to skip over the question, or to override or "steamroll" the suspect -- is to actively promote the very coercion that Traylor was intended to dispel. . . Any statement obtained in violation of this proscription violates the Florida Constitution and cannot be used by the State.

Id. Obviously, there is nothing in <u>Almeida's language that</u> implies that law enforcement officers should give legal advice or that prevents them from obtaining voluntary confessions. In the interest of obtaining statements which can withstand constitutional scrutiny, however, <u>Almeida</u> demands that officers not be evasive, but address a suspect's questions about his or her right to counsel in an open and straightforward manner.

Glatzmaver relied on Almeida in deciding that the police officers' response to Glatzmayer's question (about whether or not he needed an attorney) was not a "'simple and straightforward answer,' nor was it 'an honest effort to answer [Glatzmayer's] question concerning his right to counsel."' Glatzmayer, 754 so. 2d 71 (quoting Almeida, 737 So. 2d at 525). When police officers asked Glatzmayer to give a taped statement, Glatzmayer asked them if they thought he needed an attorney. Id. The officers' response to Glatzmayer's question was to throw it back in his lap by telling him they could not answer that question; that it was Glatzmayer's decision. The Fourth District correctly found that this non-answer was not a straightforward, good-faith effort to honestly answer Glatzmayer's question. Glatzmaver, 754 so. 2d 71. Noting that "[0]f all the rights that an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have," the Fourth District held that the officers' response to Glatzmayer's question did not comply with Almeida, and his taped confession should have been suppressed. Id. (quoting United <u>States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039 (1984).

Once again, there is nothing in the language of <u>Glatzmaver</u>, that instructs law enforcement officers to give legal advice or discourages those officers from obtaining voluntary statements

from suspects. Answering a suspect's questions about his right to counsel is hardly giving legal advice.

Thompson v. Wainwrisht, 601 F. 2d 768 (5th Cir. 1979), a case which the State quotes at length in its brief, is a good example of comments made by law enforcement officers which amount to improperly giving legal advice. There, police officers had read Thompson his Miranda rights and Thompson had signed a waiver. Id. at 769. The defendant indicated that he wanted to confess but said that he first wanted to tell his story to an attorney. Id. At this, one of the officers told Thompson that an attorney could not tell Thompson's story to the police and that the attorney would advise Thompson to not say anything. Id. at 770. The officers led Thompson to believe that if he spoke with an attorney, he would never be able to tell his side of the story. Id. The circuit court found that the officers essentially engaged in an argument with the suspect about whether or not having counsel would be in the suspect's best interests. Id. at 772. Worse, the officers presumed what advice the attorney would give defendant. The federal court concluded that, "[i]t follows the from the above that Thompson's incriminating statement, taken under the circumstances described and after he was misled into abandoning his equivocal request for counsel, was gotten in violation of Miranda." Id, The court held that the error was not

harmless and reversed. <u>Id.</u> It is clear that instructing officers to give straightforward answers to a suspect's questions about his right to counsel does not in any manner require law enforcement officers to give the kind of advice condemned in <u>Thompson</u>.

When Glatzmayer asked the officers the direct question about whether or not he should get an attorney, the only direct, nonevasive answer from the officers would have been either "yes" or "are you asking for an attorney?" Telling Glatzmayer that it was up to him, then moving on, did not answer his question and inhibited him from exercising his right to counsel. The fact that Glatzmayer was allowed to speak with his mother in no way changes this conclusion. The Fourth District was absolutely correct in finding that <u>Almeida</u> was controlling and that the officers' evasive response did not comply with <u>Almeida</u>,

The State argues that requiring police to advise suspects against talking to them without counsel present would completely undermine law enforcement, but police have been required to give exactly this warning, pursuant to <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), for over thirty years without catastrophic results. Suspects have not stopped making inculpatory statements to the police, in spite of Miranda's specific warnings that anything they say can be used against them and that they are entitled to an attorney. In any event, neither <u>Almeida</u> nor <u>Glatzmayer</u> mandates

that officers dissuade suspects from giving statements without an attorney present. Accordingly, the State's hysterical prediction of doom and destruction at the hands of <u>Almeida</u> is patently absurd.

The State then erroneously argues that the distinction between Almeida and Glatzmaver was that Almeida's question about an attorney came *before* signing a waiver of his rights, while Glatzmayer's question came after he had signed a waiver. (State's Brief p. 23) Unfortunately, the State has its facts wrong here. According to this Court's written opinion, Almeida had already been read his Miranda rights, had signed the waiver, and had given an inculpatory statement prior to asking about an attorney. Almeida, 737 So. 2d at 522. Almeida only asked his question about what good a lawyer would do when the officer prepared to conduct a taped statement. Id. This was almost the exact situation in Glatzmaver. Glatzmayer gave an informal statement, but then asked about an attorney when the officers asked him to make a taped Glatzmaver, 754 So. 2d 71. Consequently, the statement. distinction between the facts in <u>Almeida</u> and <u>Glatzmaver</u>, claimed by the State, simply does not exist.

However, even if the State was correct and there was a difference between <u>Almeida</u> and <u>Glatzmaver</u> regarding when the suspects asked about an attorney, it would be of no legal

consequence. Both <u>Almeida</u> and <u>Travlor</u> were very clear that it did not matter whether the questions about legal counsel came prior to or after the suspect had signed a waiver. <u>Travlor</u>, 596 So. 2d at 966. "[I]f, at any point during custodial interrogation, a suspect asks a clear question concerning his or her rights. . . " <u>Almeida</u>, 737 So. 2d at 525

Virtually all of the cases the State cites in support of its various arguments are inapposite because: (1) They were decided prior to Almeida and would probably call for a different result if decided today (e.g., <u>Slawson v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993); State v. Craig, 237 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1970); Z.F.B. v. State, 573 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)); (2) They did not involve a question about having an attorney present; (e.g., Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 106 S. Ct. 1135 (1985); State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997); Sapp v. State, 690 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1997); <u>State v. Mova</u>, 684 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996)); or (3) They were decided in jurisdictions completely without authority in this court (e. g., United States v. Posada-Rios, 158 F.3d 832 (5th Cir. 1998) ; Matthews v. State, 106 Md. App. 725, 666 A.2d 912 (Md. 1995)) Additionally, virtually all of these out-of-state cases were decided prior to Almeida.

In conclusion, neither <u>Almeida</u> or <u>Glatzmaver</u> require law enforcement to dissuade suspects from providing voluntary

confessions. Quite the opposite. The decision simply requires that a suspect's question about his or her fundamental right to counsel be answered in a straightforward manner. This requirement can only help ensure that a suspect's waiver was truly knowing and intelligently given and, thus, enhances the validity of voluntary confessions. As this Court noted, there is no valid societal interest served by law enforcement playing games or otherwise withholding basic information about a suspect's right to counsel.

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